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Prologue



I first met the Duke of Edinburgh in the late 1970s. He was in his mid-fifties and no longer the dashing polo-playing prince, simply a man in a suit. I was one of a group of girls involved raising monies for a theatre of which Prince Philip was a patron and we went backstage afterwards to meet him. He was charming, polite and funny, and only now when looking back do I realise how wary he must have been of being photographed with a bunch of young girls.


The next time I met him was in Amman, in March 1984. I had moved on from PR and was working for Majesty magazine. He was with Queen Elizabeth on a state visit to the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan as guests of King Hussein and Queen Noor. On the first afternoon there was a reception for the royal press core, of which I was one, to meet Queen Elizabeth and Prince Philip – this was standard in those days.


As we walked into the British Embassy, all of us visiting media journalists and some of the heavy-hitting Middle East foreign correspondents lined up to shake hands as if we were at an old-fashioned wedding reception. I clearly remember the master of ceremonies calling out Ingrid Seward from Hanover Magazines, who then published Majesty. It was my first royal tour and I hadn’t a clue what to do, so I just stuck around Michael Shea, Queen Elizabeth’s press secretary, who told me where to stand and wait to be introduced to the Queen.


Before this happened I was approached by an equerry who said to me, ‘His Royal Highness the Duke of Edinburgh would like to meet you.’ I nodded vaguely and, before I could do anything, Prince Philip walked up to me and asked me in his crisp, dry voice if I was German. I suppose with a name like Ingrid and working for an organisation called Hanover Magazines it was a possibility. As soon as I replied in the negative, he turned on his heel and walked away.


I was humiliated – I couldn’t understand what I had done, but I later learned it was standard behaviour for the duke. According to behavioural psychologists, people in a position of power such as Prince Philip frequently don’t terminate a meeting properly. They just walk away if they are not interested. They know people only want to talk to them because of who they are, not as a real person, so they have no sensitivity towards the other individual’s feelings.


Years later, when I was introduced to the duke again, this time by his then private secretary and friend Brian McGrath, at a small party in the grounds of Home Park during the Windsor Horse Show, he looked straight at me and walked away without uttering a word. Brian, looking flustered, came over to apologise, saying that the duke had thought I was from the Daily Mirror not Majesty magazine, which was why he had walked away. I met him again a few days later, when perhaps he had been briefed I was not from a tabloid newspaper, and we had what I imagined he would think was a civilised conversation about carriage driving. Realising I was not the enemy, he was charm personified and put me in touch with his head groom, at that time David Muir. He had allowed David to take me out with his carriage ponies so I could see for myself what it was like.


I still couldn’t quite believe it when I found myself sitting on the Balmoral tartan-covered box seat being driven from the Royal Mews to the showground at Windsor with the Queen’s four Fell ponies pulling us along. With Windsor Castle behind us, we clopped past the carefully trimmed lawns and flowering trees to Home Park and the nine-hole golf course where Prince Andrew used to practise his golf swing. We trotted beside the river Thames and the railway track on to the showground where it was much rougher, and when a train roared past the ponies quickened their pace, but they responded immediately when told to stop. I used the moment to ask David Muir about his boss.


‘People that don’t know the duke are intimidated by him’, Muir admitted. ‘It can be like the parting of the Red Sea. As the duke walks up everyone stands back, but if you are honest with him, he is honest with you. He can spot a fake a mile away.’





I have seen him dancing at the Squadron Ball at Cowes, expertly wrapped around Penny Romsey (now Countess Mountbatten of Burma) without a care about who would see them, so I presumed rightly or wrongly it was totally innocent. I have seen him being unpleasant and brusque, but I have also seen him lifting little children out of a crowd and over a barrier so they can give the Queen a posy. I have seen him feeding sugar lumps to his ponies after they have competed in a marathon.


With his intellectual rigour goes a great generosity of spirit. Practically everyone who has worked for him has unqualified affection for him, even though he continually shouts at them. He also has a capacity for intense dislike: of the press, his critics and fools. His best relationships are those based on mutual respect such as he has for the Queen, his daughter, the Princess Royal, and his youngest son, the Earl of Wessex. He is also surprisingly unstuffy, although he has more blue blood running through his veins than his wife, the Queen.


According to Major General Sir Michael Hobbs, a former director of the Duke of Edinburgh Award who has worked with the duke since 1988: ‘He is reserved by nature and not a demonstrative man. He meets discomfort absolutely head on and isn’t worried by it. He is a loner, utterly happy within himself.’


The duke claimed it was his mentor, Kurt Hahn, who persuaded him to become involved with the award: ‘Kurt Hahn came along one day and he sent for me and I went to see him at Brown’s Hotel, where he always stayed, and he said, “Boy, I want you to start an awards scheme.”


‘I said, “Thanks very much!” We had a badge scheme at Gordonstoun and if you qualified throwing and running and jumping, you got a badge for it. I said, “I can’t start it, but if you put together a committee of the great and the good, I am perfectly happy to chair it, which is what happened.”’


Philip’s relationship with Kurt Hahn was forged in the crucible of Gordonstoun School, where, under Hahn’s tutorship, Philip developed his adult self. Because of his respect for Hahn, anything the elder man needed, Philip would consider very carefully. ‘His dream was that one day the award that bears his name wouldn’t be necessary. It was a genuinely altruistic dream, and he believed and hoped it would become part of the development process of young people’, said Michael Hobbs.


Philip liked a lot of people for specific parts of what they were but did not have many complete friends. Not surprisingly many of those he did have are dead, but Philip is pragmatic and doesn’t dwell on the past or what might have been. As a high achiever himself, he expected the same from his friends when they were helping him, and yet when they disappointed him he was always fair. It was the same with his children.


In his youth his eldest son, the Prince of Wales, was frightened of him, and although they now have great respect for each other, it took years of misunderstanding. The late Diana Princess of Wales said he was an amusing dinner companion, but she would never look to him for sympathy or go to him for help as opposed to advice or guidance, which he gave her. But at the end of her life she declared she hated him. In a conversation I had with her on the subject, she informed me she had warned her sons, William and Harry, never to shout at anyone who couldn’t answer back the way their grandfather did.


As is often the case between younger and older generations, the duke’s grandchildren find him easier than his children, in particular the Princess Royal’s son, Peter Phillips, who has always been a particular favourite. According to a member of staff, as the duke became more cantankerous in his old age, the only one that could cheer him up was Peter, who used to love to go duck flighting with his grandfather, and they still play games together and tease each other.





His numerous physical impairments and auditory problems may have made him increasingly bad-tempered, and according to research lowered testosterone also plays a part in making older men more irritable and moodier. Regardless, even in his late stage of life, Prince Philip still takes huge pleasure in defying convention. When the Queen was hosting a tea for President Donald Trump of the United States in July 2018, Prince Philip got himself into a helicopter to make the 200-mile journey from Wood Farm in Sandringham to Romsey in Hampshire to stand at the font at Romsey Abbey as a godfather to six-month-old Inigo Hooper, his first cousin three times removed. Inigo, son of Lady Alexandra Hooper and her husband Tom, will one day inherit Broadlands, and ninety-seven-year-old Philip wanted to be there among the Mountbatten family, not at Windsor Castle with the US president.


Prince Philip continues to enjoy his life. He spends most of his time at the refurbished Wood Farm on the Sandringham estate, where if he has to do the occasional family get-together, he does it with good heart and a huge amount of the willpower he has always possessed. His determination to be at Prince Harry and Meghan Markle’s wedding in May 2018, despite having a hip operation only six weeks beforehand, is an example of his fortitude. As always, he walked ramrod straight into the chapel and sat through the long service without displaying a flicker of discomfort. Although he didn’t attend the reception afterwards, he did turn up at Lady Gabriella Windsor’s wedding to Tom Kingston when they married in May 2019 and attended their reception at Frogmore House. At Christmas time he always hosts his staff party at Frogmore and refuses to change anything because of his age. The staff at Windsor has noted that since his car accident in January 2019, he has a renewed zest for life and has been far more cheerful, possibly because he feels he has been given a reprieve to get on with whatever remains of his life. He enjoys watching cooking programmes on television, can still read, and enjoys the company of attractive women and intelligent conservation. He is surprisingly sensitive and has always been appalled by the stream of negative stories in the media about the royal family – his family – but he has always cautioned against suing the press except in a few instances. He knows it gives more coverage to a libel, plus it is an unpleasant and expensive process to go through.


Watching Fergie and Diana tearing apart what he considered sacrosanct – the institution of the monarchy – for their own ends made him very angry and hurt him considerably. It was only in 2019 that he would finally be reconciled with Fergie and be present at a lunch at Windsor Castle with the Queen, Fergie and Andrew. They never touch on the past, as Philip sees no point in that, but he is able to be in her company without making her feel awkward. She is a good conversationalist and enjoys his continuing fascination with new things and ideas, which are sometimes a bit off the wall – but she can relate to them well. He once decided, for instance, it would be a good idea to introduce hawks into New York City to kill the vermin population that was a problem at the time.





Above all Prince Philip is loyal. He is loyal to his wife, the Queen and the institution of the monarchy – which they have both given up so much to support – and it grieves him that the younger generation do not all appear to have the devotion to duty that has always been his byline. For him duty is at the centre of everything. It is not a choice. It is one of life’s givens and it is the framework from which all other things follow. Prince Philip has always operated within the framework that if you obey the rules, life will be so much easier. There will be no embarrassment and no one will step over the line and say things they later on regret. Although Philip finds comfort and security in structure, there is also a rebellious streak at the core of his character. He has always held the opinion that his way is the right way and he does not enjoy being corrected if someone contradicts him.


‘He is an alpha male playing a beta role, but he accepts that as it’s his duty’, said behavioural psychologist Dr Peter Collett. ‘He buys into paying homage as it’s playing the role, but outside of that he appears to find it difficult.’


In 2016, the year of the Queen’s ninetieth birthday, she was asked to present the trophies to the winner on Derby Day at Epsom for the first time in her reign. After the race the Queen took her place as the connections to the winning horse, Hazard, mounted the dais one by one to collect their trophies. First up was the winning owner, the Aga Khan, with whom the Queen could be seen discussing the race – she has extensive knowledge of the breeding of all the fancied runners. Next in line were the trainer Dermot Weld and the jockey Pat Smullen along with the stable lad who looked after the winning horse. Each man in turn received his trophy after a few words of congratulation from the Queen. Meanwhile ninety-four-year-old Prince Philip was standing erect as always and off to one side of the Queen and the winning group. He was impeccably dressed in a morning suit with a grey top hat and a colourful green-and-maroon tie with a pearl-and-diamond anchor tiepin. He shook hands with each one as they mounted the dais but took no part in the presentation ceremony. Despite the Queen’s passion for horse racing, the duke has little interest in it himself and tried not to look bored by the proceedings. But the Derby is not a state occasion, so why did Philip make the trek down from the royal box to the presentation, only a week after his doctors ordered him to cancel his official engagements because of fears about his health? It was not an obligation.


It was his sense of duty. In all the years since the Queen’s accession, Prince Philip’s sense of duty has never wavered. He is always there. Two steps behind. His complex character is part of what makes him fascinating. ‘I often describe Prince Philip as a whirling comet with bits shooting off in different directions’, recounted one of his female friends. ‘He is not a gentleman because he doesn’t put people at their ease when he can’t be bothered, but he plays by the rules with his wife and family.’


The Queen, who has been married to him for over seventy years, has told us he doesn’t take easily to compliments. He doesn’t; he mistrusts their motives. He also objects to any details about his private life becoming public property. When Michael Fagan broke into the Queen’s bedroom in 1982, the thing that worried Prince Philip the most was that the public would know their sleeping arrangements – they have separate interconnecting bedrooms like many aristocratic couples with different life schedules. The Queen switches off when the duke becomes difficult and walks away both physically and mentally. But although their marriage has been challenging at times, it has never been dull.


When he was still actively involved, the worst thing about royal life for Prince Philip was the official engagements that could be so personally restricting and stultifying boring. Philip is as well known for his gaffes as anything else but most of them are couched not to be rude but to relieve the boredom. Occasionally a mishap relieves the tedium, and one of Philip’s favourites occurred during a State Banquet in May 1966, probably the only time anything has ever gone wrong on such an occasion.


The Queen was at the head of the table with Prince Philip next to her and the guest of honour President Franz Jonas of Austria on her right. The Archbishop of Canterbury was seated nearby and opposite him sat a dame commander of the Order of the British Empire, who was also a brigadier in the army.


The brigadier, a well-proportioned lady, was wearing a black evening dress held in place by two thin shoulder straps. On the left side of the dress she wore medal ribbons. As a footman bent over to serve her vegetables, one of the buttons on his livery became entangled with the row of ribbons above her ample bosom. He tried to extricate himself while holding the salver of vegetables, which proved impossible. With difficulty he found a spot on the table to set down the dish, and with the help of the brigadier managed to untangle the button and strap.


Relieved but embarrassed and flustered, the footman bent to retrieve his vegetable dish and then another button became caught in the lady’s other shoulder strap. Dismayed, she pulled away from the footman just as he pulled away from her. The strap snapped, closely followed by the other. In a panic she pushed herself back from the table and with the same movement pushed herself out of her dress. The archbishop stared at his plate while the Queen determinedly carried on her conversation with the president of Austria so he did not dare look towards the commotion. For once the rule that no one leaves the table before the Queen was broken and the lady hurriedly left in search of a couple of safety pins.


Prince Philip still repeats the story that has tickled his well-developed sense of the ridiculous, although it might have been altered a little down the years of retelling.


The multifaceted complex, humorous character that is Prince Philip has been fortunate enough to dedicate his spare time to the pursuit of knowledge, and to enjoy his life while doing so. During his last years he has refused to give in to illness or infirmity, realising that to do so would deny him his final opportunity to understand what he had not understood before. He has used this time to read the books he always wanted to read but never had the time to do so and to go through the archives of his life so carefully filed by his loyal archivist. I don’t think he has been afraid of death or afraid of life. His fear has been to leave things undone.


To the last he has remained a man of immense personal discipline and dedication to duty. Within the pages of this book I have attempted to explain who this man is and how he has managed to survive within his extraordinary life and make it actually worth living.










Chapter 1 ANCESTRY



As a young naval lieutenant based in Melbourne with the Pacific Fleet in 1944, Prince Philip of Greece and Denmark described himself as ‘a discredited Balkan prince of no particular merit or distinction’. It was typical of his self-deprecating style of repartee. Far from being a minor Greek prince, Philip’s royal antecedents connect him to the highest ranks of European royalty. His bloodlines provide direct links to British royalty, to the royal house of Denmark, to the grand dukes of Hesse in Germany and to the Romanov imperial family in Russia.


At the beginning of the twentieth century, the convoluted family trees of the royal houses of Europe show a high degree of intermarriage, with cousins marrying cousins. Princes and princesses never married commoners and large families were the norm. At the pinnacle reigned the most powerful queen in the world, Queen Victoria, who with her German husband, Prince Albert of Saxe-Coburg-Gotha, had nine children who went on to produce a total of forty-two grandchildren. Their marriages linked together the great powers of Great Britain, Germany and Russia. France, albeit also a major power, was outside the circle of northern royal European marriages as it was principally Roman Catholic and without a royal family.


The other great European dynasty was that of King Christian IX of Denmark, who reigned from 1863 to 1906. At the outbreak of the First World War in 1914, the grandchildren of Queen Victoria and King Christian IX together occupied the thrones of Denmark, Greece, Norway, Germany, Romania, Russia and Great Britain.


The Queen and Prince Philip are third cousins because both are great-great-grandchildren of Queen Victoria. The Queen is a direct descendant of Queen Victoria’s eldest son, Prince Albert Edward, later King Edward VII. Philip is a direct descendant of Queen Victoria’s second daughter, Princess Alice, the grandmother of Philip’s mother, who was also called Alice. King Christian IX’s daughter Queen Alexandra, who was the wife of King Edward VII, and his son William, who was later King George I of Greece, were brother and sister, linking Philip’s father Andrew (King George I’s son) to King George V of England (King Edward VII’s son) as first cousins.


Christian IX was chosen as heir to the Danish throne when the senior line of succession became extinct. He was the first Danish monarch of the House of Glucksburg. As a young man he had sought the hand of Queen Victoria but was rejected in favour of Prince Albert. He married Princess Louise of Hesse-Cassel, and with his German wife they had six children. Every father wants to see his children marry well, especially so if a royal family is involved. Few could have done quite as well as King Christian IX of Denmark. He was the father of a British queen, a Russian tsarina and two European kings. It was the ambitious Queen Louise who successfully schemed to get their children married to scions of Europe’s royal and princely houses. Their second eldest daughter, Dagmar, became Maria Feodorovna when she married the future Tsar Alexander III, Emperor of Russia and King of Poland. Their eldest daughter, Alexandra, married the Prince of Wales in 1863 and became Queen of England when Edward VII acceded on the death of Queen Victoria. Another daughter, Thyra, married the heir to the throne of Hanover.


After he was crowned king, Christian IX organised a family gathering that was held every other year at the Fredensborg Palace north of Copenhagen. So great were the numbers attending from across Europe that several 300-place-setting dinner services were commissioned from the Royal Copenhagen porcelain factory. The grandchildren who played games together in the extensive grounds included the future Tsar Nicholas II of Russia and three future kings: George V of the United Kingdom, Haakon of Norway and Constantine I of Greece. Although coming from a country with a population of under 2.5 million, such was the influence of the Danish family among the royal houses of Europe that King Christian IX became known as ‘the father-in-law of Europe’.


King Christian IX was created a Knight of the Garter in 1865 and his descendants have continued close links with the British royal family ever since. At the time of her coronation, both Queen Elizabeth and Philip – Christian IX’s great-grandson – were awarded the Order of the Elephant, Denmark’s highest ranked Order of Chivalry.


Christian’s eldest son, Frederick, succeeded him as King of Denmark, while his younger son William became King George I of Greece at seventeen years old – the latter would be Philip’s grandfather. William was a reluctant monarch who did not want to abandon his career in the Danish Navy and spoke not one word of Greek. The great powers of Europe – England, France and Russia – had signed the London Protocol of 1830, which declared Greece an independent state and stated that a hereditary sovereign for Greece should be chosen from outside the country. Otto, a Bavarian prince, was selected as the first King of Greece, but he became unpopular and was deposed in 1862. William was subsequently chosen because it was thought that having a Danish King of Greece would avoid upsetting the balance of power in Europe. On 30 March 1863, the Greek National Assembly elected him King of the Hellenes, under the regnal name of George I. He soon became a popular monarch, learning to speak Greek in a matter of months and making himself available to the Greek people with weekly audiences.


George went to stay with his sister, the tsarina, in Russia for the purpose of finding a wife. When visiting the tsar’s younger brother, the Grand Duke Constantine, he fell for his fifteen-year-old daughter Olga. They were married shortly after Olga’s sixteenth birthday at the Winter Palace in St Petersburg in 1867. Together they had seven children, of whom Philip’s father Andreas, commonly called Andrew, was last but one. Philip’s paternal grandmother Olga was the niece of Tsar Nicholas II. After fifty years on the throne, George I was assassinated in Thessaloniki in 1913 while taking his daily stroll among his people.





Entry number 449 in the Corfu Register of Births shows that on 28 May 1921 a son was born to Prince Andrew of Greece, son of King George I of Greece, and Princess Alice, daughter of Prince Louis (Ludwig) of Battenberg. The baby was baptised in the Greek Orthodox Church as ‘Philippos’. It was not until two years later, when Greece adopted the Gregorian calendar, that the date of birth was changed to 10 June, which is Philip’s official birthday. His full title was Prince Philip of Greece and Denmark, but at school he insisted that he was just plain Philip. The royal family into which Philip was born a prince on his father’s side was not Greek in origin. It was a branch of the House of Glucksburg descended directly from the kings of Denmark. Until Philip took British nationality in 1947, he called himself ‘Philip of Greece’. When he became a British citizen, he renounced his foreign title of prince and became Lieutenant Philip Mountbatten RN. On the eve of his wedding he was created His Royal Highness Duke of Edinburgh, Earl of Merioneth and Baron Greenwich. He would not become a prince again until ten years later, when the Queen elevated him to ‘the style and dignity of a Prince of the United Kingdom’.





Although born in Greece, a country he was to leave while still an infant, Philip’s connection to that country was tenuous to say the least. His mother, Princess Alice, had never been in Greece until she married Prince Andrew and had no Greek blood relatives. Alice was a Battenberg with close connections to the British royal family. She was born at Windsor Castle in the presence of Queen Victoria in 1885. Her mother Victoria was one of Queen Victoria’s granddaughters and would become a huge influence on Philip when he was a schoolboy in England. After she was widowed, Philip’s grandmother Victoria often travelled with him to Germany in the school holidays to visit her granddaughters who lived there. Alice’s father was Louis of Battenberg, later 1st Marquess of Milford Haven, whose family home was in Darmstadt.


Louis may have been born German, but he joined the British Navy at the age of fourteen and became a naturalised British subject. He rose to be First Sea Lord. When the First World War broke out, Louis sent a signal to all the British warships: ‘Commence hostilities against Germany’. However, Louis had married Princess Victoria of Hesse and by Rhine, and being a Grand Duke of Hesse himself, he was considered to be too German to be head of the Royal Navy in wartime. In 1914, anti-German sentiment was running high in England; Dachshunds were kicked in the street and Beethoven and Wagner’s music was considered unfit for British ears. After forty-six years in the Royal Navy, Prince Louis was persuaded to write to the First Lord of the Admiralty Winston Churchill as follows:


‘I have lately been driven to the painful conclusion that at this juncture my birth and parentage have the effect of impairing in some respects my usefulness on the Board of Admiralty. I feel it to be my duty as a loyal subject of His Majesty to resign the office of First Sea Lord hoping thereby to facilitate the task of administration of the great Service to which I have devoted my life.’


For his troubles he was created the 1st Marquess of Milford Haven. Three years later, in 1917, King George V felt compelled to change the family name from Saxe-Coburg-Gotha to the House of Windsor. At the same time Battenberg was anglicised to become Mountbatten. Louis’ younger son, also called Louis but known to all as Dickie, was a naval cadet who vowed to avenge his father’s humiliation. He too became First Sea Lord and rose to even greater heights as the last Viceroy in India and Supreme Commander of the allied forces in South East Asia in the Second World War. As well as being Philip’s uncle, Dickie became a close friend and had a great influence on Philip’s future.





In her childhood, Philip’s mother Alice was brought up in England and became a favourite of Queen Victoria, who wrote to her frequently. Alice would stay at the royal residences of Osborne on the Isle of Wight, Balmoral and Windsor Castle for weeks at a time while her father was stationed with the navy in Malta. When Queen Victoria died, Alice was sixteen and considered a great beauty, so much so that the Prince of Wales remarked, ‘No throne is too good for her.’


Alice was born profoundly deaf but became an expert lip-reader proficient in several languages. In 1902, she was staying at Buckingham Place for the coronation of King Edward VII when she met Andrew, then a handsome young cavalry officer in the Greek army, and fell in love.


When it was announced in 1903 that Prince Andrew of Greece and Princess Alice of Battenberg had become engaged, the Prince and Princess of Wales, later King George V and Queen Mary, gave an engagement party at Marlborough House that was attended by King Edward VII. Alice and Andrew’s closeness to the British royal family would prove a vital factor in their lives some twenty years later, when the intervention of King George V saved Andrew from execution.


The marriage took place in 1903 in Darmstadt; the week-long celebrations paid for by Tsar Nicholas II were lavish and attended by the greatest ever assembly of European royalty to gather in one place, including Queen Alexandra of England. The tsar arrived in the luxurious imperial train, bringing with him the Russian Imperial Choir and an entourage of grand dukes and duchesses and a retinue of servants. There were three separate wedding ceremonies, at one of which Alice gave the wrong answers to the priest’s questions – she could not read his lips, which were obscured by his flowing beard. The lavish celebrations continued for a week. Alice’s Uncle Ernie, Grand Duke of Hesse, put up the guests in his two palaces in Darmstadt. Ernie’s cousin the Grand Duchess of Mecklenburg-Strelitz complained about the expense and extent of the celebrations, saying ‘there is no reason for it, a Battenberg, daughter of an illegitimate father, Andrew a fourth son of a newly baked king’.


It is true that Andrew’s father was a new king but Prince Louis was not illegitimate. He was the son of a commoner Julie Hauke, later the first Princess of Battenberg. When in 1947 Dickie Mountbatten published his family tree, establishing the Battenbergs and their ancestors as one of the oldest and most chivalrous families in Europe, he had to acknowledge that his grandfather Alexander, son of the Grand Duke of Hesse, broke with tradition and married a lady-in-waiting at the Imperial Russian Court.





After the wedding Alice moved to Greece to live with Andrew in his family home in the royal compound at Tatoi outside Athens. They also had a home in Corfu named Mon Repos, where Alice brought up her four daughters before Philip was born some seven years their junior. Andrew and Alice were relatively poor as he had only his Greek army pay and Alice came with no great dowry, but Philip’s background was not as impecunious as has been made out. In their home in Corfu, his parents employed an English couple as housekeeper and houseman, an English nanny called Emily Roose, and several maids and gardeners. They also had the means to travel all over Europe whenever the need arose. Philip and his nanny were taken to London with his family twice before he was two years old, firstly for the funeral of Prince Louis, the Marquess of Milford Haven, and then in 1922 for the wedding of his uncle Dickie Mountbatten to the hugely wealthy heiress Edwina Ashley. The Prince of Wales, later King Edward VII, was Dickie’s best man.





Andrew was a career soldier and had gone to an officers’ training school in Athens at the age of fourteen. He had risen to the rank of lieutenant general when disaster struck in 1922. Andrew was engaged fighting the Turks in Asia Minor. After the Greek army was destroyed at Smyrna and millions of Greeks became refugees, Andrew and several fellow officers were court-martialled for their part in the debacle. Andrew was sentenced to death on the grounds of disobeying an order in battle. However, his life was saved by the intervention of King George V, who ordered a gunboat to be sent to Crete. Andrew’s sentence was reduced to banishment from Greece and loss of citizenship. Philip was still a baby when he and his family were evacuated from Greece in the British gunboat Calypso.


As Calypso sailed out of Phaleron Bay towards the Italian port of Brindisi via Corfu, the intense sense of relief that Andrew had felt at escaping the firing squad soon evaporated as the realisation of the dreadful situation in which he now found himself dawned upon him. He had dedicated his life to the Greek army as a professional soldier only to suffer the disgrace of being stripped of his rank and nationality and sent into permanent exile. Years later he asserted in his memoirs that he had been made a scapegoat to cover up the incompetence of the Greek high command. He was facing an uncertain future with no career, few assets and a young family of five children to look after. Being the proud man that he was, it was difficult for him to accept the reality that, in order to survive, he would have to go begging to his brothers, of which two had married wives with great fortunes.


The family’s first stop was in London, where Andrew was able to thank the king for saving his life and his family. Andrew never recovered from the ignominy of being drummed out of the Greek army. After eight years of living in Paris, the family home broke up in 1930 when all four of his daughters married, his wife was committed to a sanatorium and Philip went away to boarding school in England. Andrew drifted round Europe, occasionally staying with one of his daughters in Germany. Apart from a brief return to Greece in 1935, when the monarchy was restored, he spent his remaining years in Monte Carlo. After the occupation of France by the Germans, Andrew was stranded in Monte Carlo, unable to get a visa to travel anywhere. He lived with his mistress, Comtesse Andrée de la Bigne, until he died in 1944 at the age of sixty-two. Philip never saw his father again during the last five years of Andrew’s enforced stay in Monte Carlo.





Alice spent several years being treated for mental illness in Switzerland before she started to recover in 1936. During this period she did not see Philip for five years. Her recovery became complete when in 1937 her daughter Cecile died in an air crash along with her husband and three children. It seems that the shock of their deaths brought Alice to her senses. She had become extremely religious and devoted the rest of her life to helping those in need. She moved back to Athens and remained there throughout the war. The Greek people suffered terribly during the German occupation with all food being requisitioned for German troops. Many thousands of Greeks died of starvation. Alice organised soup kitchens for the starving children and risked her life by hiding a Jewish family from the Germans, for which she was posthumously awarded Israel’s highest honour, Righteous Among the Nations. Philip and his sister Sophie travelled to Jerusalem in 1994 to receive the award. In the last years of her life, Alice returned to England and lived in a suite of rooms at Buckingham Palace as the guest of Queen Elizabeth.





When bloodlines are considered Philip is a true-blue mix of German, Danish and Russian blood. His grandmother Victoria married Louis of Battenberg, grandson of the Grand Duke of Hesse-Darmstadt, and German blood flows down from Christian IX’s wife, Louise of Hesse-Cassel, and Queen Victoria’s husband, Prince Albert of Saxe-Coburg-Gotha. It was no coincidence that Philip’s four older sisters all married German aristocrats. When Philip, then a first lieutenant in the Royal Navy, was first interviewed for the British press in the naval dockyard in Newcastle, his interviewer Olga Franklin described him as having ‘the looks of a typical prince of a Hans Andersen fairy tale’. She put his blond hair and blue eyes down to his great-grandfather King Christian IX of Denmark. Throughout his life Philip displayed the characteristics of his Northern European bloodlines, not those of the hot-blooded emotional Greeks and other Mediterranean peoples.


Philip’s connections to Russia should not be overlooked. His grandfather King George I of Greece married the Grand Duchess Olga, giving Philip a Russian grandmother; King George’s sister Dagmar married Tsar Alexander III; Philip’s two aunts Marie and Alexandra both married Russian grand dukes; his uncle Nicholas married Grand Duchess Elena of Russia and his great-aunt Alix (Princess Alexandra of Hesse) married Tsar Nicholas II, both of whom were executed along with their children at Ekaterinburg in 1918. Philip’s great-aunt Ella, who was the widow of Grand Duke Serge and the inspiration for Alice’s life of service to others, suffered a horrible death in 1918. Along with five other members of the Russian imperial family, the Romanovs, she was thrown down a mineshaft and left to die. There was a close connection between the Romanovs and Darmstadt in Germany. The Russian church in Darmstadt, St Mary Magdalene Chapel, is named in honour of the patron saint of Tsar Nicholas’s mother and was built of Russian stone on Russian soil transported to Darmstadt by train. The Russian imperial family and court used the church during regular visits to the tsarina’s brother Ernst Ludwig, who was Uncle Ernie to Alice.


This family closeness explains why Philip cared enough to help solve a mystery. In the 1990s, Philip allowed British and Russian researchers to test his DNA in order to identify remains suspected to be those of Tsarina Alexandra and three of her children killed in 1918. As Alexandra’s great-nephew, he would share some of her DNA and the bodies were identified. The test was repeated with the same result when the two other children’s remains were found.


In 1957, Philip was asked in an interview if he would like to visit the Soviet Union. He replied, ‘I would like to go to Russia very much – although the bastards murdered half my family.’ All was apparently forgiven in 1994, when Philip joined the Queen on a state visit to Russia at the invitation of President Boris Yeltsin. The couple stayed at the Kremlin and on the Royal Yacht Britannia in St Petersburg during their four-day visit, which began on 17 October. In a link with history, Philip and the Queen sat in the tsars’ box at the Bolshoi theatre on their first night to watch a performance of Giselle. They also spent two days in St Petersburg visiting the Hermitage Museum and the palatial quarters of the tsars.





Philip’s bloodlines are apparent from his appearance and demeanour as well as the strength of character that he has displayed throughout his life. His blond hair and deep blue eyes hint at his Nordic Viking roots, while his self-discipline, iron will and work ethic can be attributed to his German ancestry. The duke’s abundant sense of humour is Anglo-Saxon at its roots, but it is distinctly Russian not to display emotion in public, something that Philip has done only extremely rarely.










Chapter 2 EARLY INFLUENCES



A myth has been perpetuated by a series of biographers that Prince Philip’s early life was unsettled and unhappy. He has been variously described as ‘the product of a broken home’, ‘having a traumatic life of high drama and financial insecurity’, ‘the man who survived a disruptive, itinerant childhood full of drama and personal tragedy’ and having had a ‘turbulent early life’. Yet, when questioned by his biographer Basil Boothroyd on the subject, Philip said, ‘I don’t think it necessarily was particularly unhappy, it wasn’t all that unsettled.’


According to UNICEF, early childhood – the period that spans up to eight years of age – is critical for cognitive, social, emotional and physical development. During these years, a child’s newly developing brain is highly plastic and responsive to change as billions of integrated neural circuits are established through the interaction of genetics, environment and experience. Optimal brain development requires a stimulating environment, adequate nutrients and social interaction with attentive carers. The first five years of a child’s life are fundamentally important. They are the foundation that shapes children’s future health, happiness, growth, development and learning achievement at school, in the family and community, and in life in general. Those closest to Philip in the early years were his parents, Andrew and Alice, and his nanny Emily Roose.


Therefore the major influences in Philip’s formative years are his family and his school. He was born into a large, loving and happy family, and after four daughters his parents were delighted to have a son at last. His four older sisters adored him and spoiled him. ‘He had such unbelievable charm’, his youngest sister Sophie recalled.


Philip knew nothing of the forced exodus from Corfu since it took place while he was still a baby, and on arrival from Corfu the family stayed in London for a short time with Philip’s grandmother, Princess Victoria, at Kensington Palace. In January 1923, Andrew and Alice sailed for New York at the invitation of Andrew’s brother Christopher and his American wife Nancy, the extremely rich widow of a tin-plate tycoon. Their two elder daughters stayed with Victoria in London while Philip and his two other sisters were sent to stay with their Uncle George and his wife Marie Bonaparte in Paris. Marie had inherited a fortune from her mother’s family, who were the founders of the Monte Carlo Casino. After two months in the United States, Andrew and Alice sailed back to Europe on the Cunard liner Aquitania and settled in St. Cloud, a leafy suburb about 6 miles from the centre of Paris.





The 1920s in Paris were known as Les Années Folles, meaning ‘The Crazy Years’. Also known as the Roaring Twenties, the decade was a time noted for artistic expression. Paris was famed for high fashion: the International Exposition of 1925 featured over seventy Parisian fashion designers, and it was in the midst of this period that the Paris-based Coco Chanel introduced the ‘little black dress’. The artists Picasso, Modigliani, Brancusi and Chagall all frequented the same Parisian cafes, and Paris was also the centre of a vibrant music scene with the arrival of jazz and the Charleston from America. The high value of the dollar made Paris an attractive and economical place for Americans to reside. The authors Ernest Hemingway, Scott Fitzgerald and Henry Miller had taken up residence in Paris. Hemingway’s book A Moveable Feast described Paris and his favourite haunts in the 1920s. The cafes were also frequented by émigrés and large numbers of white Russians who had escaped the Bolshevik revolution in 1917; these included grand dukes and duchesses who were Andrew’s distant cousins and had been guests at his wedding in Darmstadt. Andrew would travel into Paris from St. Cloud daily to meet with fellow exiles to discuss politics and plan coups, which never took place. Many Russian émigrés believed that their mission was to preserve the pre-revolutionary Russian culture and way of life while living abroad. The Ballets Russes had established itself in Paris under Sergei Diaghilev, later transferring to Monte Carlo around the same time that Andrew moved there himself.


Andrew’s big-hearted brother George provided him and his family with their new home in St. Cloud, which was one of several properties he owned there. It was not far from the Bois de Boulogne, which in those days was an extensive public park. In addition to Philip and his four older sisters, the household comprised a number of servants including Andrew’s valet, Alice’s maid and Philip’s nanny Emily Roose, known to all as ‘Roosie’. Marie Bonaparte provided for the household expenses as neither Andrew nor Alice had paid employment in Paris. Alice worked as a volunteer in a charity shop selling Greek products for the benefit of less well-off fellow refugees. She was in receipt of a small allowance from her brother George Milford Haven and had inherited one tenth of the estate owned by her father, who was the 1st Marquess of Milford Haven on his death in 1921. However, the estate’s value was largely wiped out by German hyperinflation in the 1920s as the family seat and lands were in Germany near Darmstadt.


As a disgraced former officer in the Greek army, Andrew was unemployable. However, thanks to the generosity of his brothers, he was not forced to lower himself to the status of a Paris taxi driver as many of his Russian relatives had been. His finances were helped considerably when in 1923 Christopher’s wife Nancy died from cancer and left a sum of money to go towards school fees for Andrew’s children’s and other expenses. Financial help also came from Alice’s brother, Dickie Mountbatten, whose wife Edwina had inherited a vast fortune from her grandfather Sir Ernest Cassel, one of the wealthiest men of his day and a good friend of King Edward VII. Andrew managed to retain ownership of Mon Repos, the former family home in Corfu, in spite of the attempts of successive Greek governments to seize it. He eventually sold it in 1937. While they did not have a palace with liveried footmen, Andrew and his family lived comfortably enough with a retinue of servants and were certainly not quite as impoverished as has been suggested. Throughout his life Andrew was never without a valet to look after him and always remained dapper and well dressed.





By the time the family moved to St. Cloud, the four daughters were largely old enough to manage without the attentions of a nanny. Roosie had initially been employed by Alice in 1904 for all of her children, and she was present at Philip’s birth when the family doctor decreed that the most suitable place for the delivery was the dining-room table at Mon Repos. (Some say it was the kitchen table, but when you visit Mon Repos they have a plaque in the dining room). Philip now became thirty-two-year-old Roosie’s main charge. She was loving and kind, but she was also strict and instilled in him an all-important sense of Englishness that stayed with him for the rest of his life.


Roosie was there for the official registration of Philip’s birth, along with the Queen Mother Olga of Greece as his godmother, when he was given the name Philippos in the registry of births. A formal christening followed in the Orthodox Church in Corfu city. Cheering crowds lined the streets leading to the church, where a band played and the city officials watched the baby being immersed in the font. Later, when the family was forced to flee Corfu and the warship Calypso picked up eighteen-month-old Philip and his four sisters, it was Nanny Roose who helped with the evacuation and again when they arrived in Brindisi in Italy.


‘Brindisi was a ghastly place’, Princess Sophie, Philip’s last surviving sister, recalled. She described it as the worst town she had ever been in. ‘It was a terrible business. My sisters, who were seventeen and sixteen, had to get everything ready [for the evacuation].’ When they were put ashore in Brindisi, nothing seemed to matter after the terrible rough journey by sea. They allowed Philip to clamber around the floor of the train during the journey to Rome and then to Paris, making himself black from head to toe. ‘Leave him alone’, Roosie advised his mother when Alice tried to restrain him. ‘A divine person, much nicer than all the other nannies, we adored her’, Philip’s sister Sophie said when describing Roosie.


Roosie, who had trained as a nurse at St Thomas’s Hospital in London, was the daughter of a bootmaker in Plymouth. Prior to her engagement by Alice, she had been in the service of English ladies and gentlemen, with her last employer being Royal Naval Commander Herbert Savory. Roosie believed in all things English and had English food, medicines and baby clothes sent over from London for Philip. It was through her that the King’s English became Philip’s first language, and she even taught him English nursery rhymes. Philip later recalled, ‘We spoke English at home but then the conversation would go into French. Then it went into German on occasions. If you couldn’t think of a word in one language, you tended to go off in another.’


‘Nobody’s allowed to spank me but my own nanny’, Philip once informed his friend when his friend’s nanny was about to discipline Philip for breaking a vase. Roosie’s word was final and if there was any discipline to be done, she did it. From what little is known about Nanny Roose, who was born in 1872, she was a warm and loving person.


According to child psychologists, a child’s concept of himself between the ages of two and four are based on what the most important people in his life think of him and self-confidence can be created or it can be crushed. In Philip’s case it appears to have been created. The very early behaviour of mothers or nannies towards their children is important in regards to the child’s ability to form later human relationships, which Philip managed admirably. Studies show that the shape of the personality and the direction their lives will take are all laid down in the first six or seven years and cannot be fundamentally changed. Therefore nanny’s power to do good or evil, to warp or straighten or to build or destroy was virtually unlimited. Far from being neglected, Philip’s early years were remarkable for their security and love, received after the fashion of the time – from the arms of the nanny.


Philip remained in touch with Roosie after she retired to South Africa when Philip was seven. It was a sad parting, but Roosie needed to live in a warm climate on account of her severe arthritis. In typical nanny fashion, Roosie maintained a correspondence from South Africa with both Philip and his eldest sister Cecile. In March 1932, she wrote to Cecile, ‘It is still summer here and twelve pineapples for a shilling. It makes me long to send some to Philip, he told me once, he loved me nearly as much as pineapple.’


In another letter to Cecile she wrote, ‘Philip gave me pleasure again; another letter full of fun. Did I remember when I told him to get up quick Easter morning and while I was out of the room he dressed and got into bed again – when I got back and found him in bed I began to scold, then out Philip jumped already dressed! Then the fun to laugh at me. He wrote rather large, said not to tire my eyes, bless him.’ Evidently Philip inherited a love of practical jokes from his father, who according to Princess Alexandra turned everything into a joke. Philip himself said of his father and uncles, ‘anything could happen when you got a few of them together. It was like the Marx Brothers.’ Roosie died in 1933 in Simon’s Town near Cape Town. The inscription on her tombstone reads, ‘Emily L. Roose. In loving and deeply grateful remembrance of 25 years devoted friendship and service. From Prince and Princess Andrew of Greece and their children Margarita, Theodora, Cecile, Sophie and Philip.’





The family travelled extensively throughout Europe by train to stay with relations, many of whom had managed to retain royal estates and lived in style. By the time he was four years old, Philip had been taken to London four times, sometimes with his mother and sisters, but always accompanied by Roosie. Then as now, anyone who had the means to do so left the heat of Paris in July and August, and Philip’s family were no different. Philip’s cousin Princess Alexandra writes of holidays spent at the Panker estate on the Baltic coast, the summer residence of the Landgrave of Hesse, and remembered how Philip loved swimming in the sea. ‘It was always Philip’, Alexandra said, ‘who ventured out of his depth’ or ‘who rounded up other boys encountered on the beach and organised an intensive castle building brigade.’ He was also given a box Brownie camera and took up photography, which remained a lifetime hobby.


Several holidays were spent by Philip and his two younger sisters and sometimes with Alice at the palatial villa near Le Touquet that belonged to the Foufounis family, wealthy Greek émigrés. It was there that Philip, at the age of five, struck up a close friendship with Hélène Foufounis, one that was to endure for many years. In the UK, Hélène was known as the cabaret singer Helen Cordet from her television appearances. Madame Foufounis became so fond of Philip that she said, ‘I loved him as my own.’ Philip also spent holidays in England with his grandmother Victoria at Kensington Palace.





Before the First World War, regal children were brought up largely by nurses, governesses and nannies; fathers did not play a hands-on role. Philip and Andrew had a much closer relationship than many fathers and sons of the period, at least until Philip was eight and the family unit dispersed. Philip’s sisters Margarita and Sophie recalled, ‘Andrew and Philip had a great fondness for each other’ and ‘they used to laugh together like mad’. In her biography of Philip, his cousin Alexandra wrote that Andrew ‘always treated Philip with the same indulgent raillery. I heard him joking with my cousin [Philip] sometimes on his athletic prowess or youthful escapades, but as Philip’s papa he would give him advice whenever it was sought, with a gentle gravity. Philip adored his father and looking back I can see physical resemblances.’ Alexandra also said that Andrew explained to Philip the real importance of being a prince. ‘To be a prince one had to excel like a prince… a prince in fact must always prove himself.’ Philip heeded his father’s words and throughout his life sought to excel at everything he tackled.


Philip maintained that in the early years at St. Cloud, his uncles on his father’s side had a greater influence than has been generally recognised. He said, ‘I grew up very much more with my father’s family than I did with my mother’s and I think they are quite interesting people. They’re the sort of people who haven’t been heard of much.’ When the family was in residence in Paris, ‘Big George’ as Philip’s uncle was called, who lived nearby, gave a lunch party every Sunday. Uncle George was especially fond of children and came over each evening to kiss Philip goodnight and make sure he said his prayers. Christmas was very much a family affair and Roosie remembered putting out stockings for all the children, even though the older ones were by then quite grown up.


The family was international and spoke in several different languages, mainly German, and Philip’s four sisters all went on to marry German aristocrats. Although Alice was brought up in England, her father, Prince Louis of Battenberg had never lost his German accent even after a lifetime in the Royal Navy and he maintained a family home in Darmstadt. Furthermore, as is common with the deaf, her English speech was not crystal clear, although she always spoke English to Philip and used the sign language that he had been taught.





When six-year-old Philip was at his first school, The Elms, his mother’s mental illness began to manifest itself. Initially it took the form of an obsessive religious fervour, which may have passed unnoticed by Philip, at least until he was eight years old. In 1928, Alice was still well enough to take her daughter Cecile, then seventeen years old, to stay with Victoria at Kensington Palace for the London season. Together they went to a number of balls and to Cowes for the regatta week. Cecile then went to stay with the King George V and Queen Mary in Scotland at Balmoral Castle. Philip spent the summer holidays with Roosie and two of his sisters at Sinaia in the Carpathian Mountains, staying with Queen Helen of Romania. Philip’s cousin Alexandra remembered their ‘nannies all cheerfully sitting down to tea with bowls of caviar.’ Philip was allowed no such extravagance. He was trained, Alexandra said, ‘to save and economise better than other children, so much so he acquired a reputation for being mean.’


Alice returned home in October to St. Cloud in time for her and Andrew to celebrate their silver wedding anniversary, but as Roosie was away during the family parties that marked the occasion, Alice slept with Philip in his nursery. In a letter to Miss Edwards, another member of the staff, she wrote, ‘Philip is always very good with me.’ During the winter Alice busied herself with translating Andrew’s book Towards Disaster from Greek into English. The book was little more than Andrew’s defence of his actions that caused his dismissal from the Greek army and banishment into exile. It is thought that the exertion of the work caused her mental state to deteriorate further.


By mid-1929, the deterioration of her health began to cause the family concern. She became obsessed with religious mysticism. At this time eight-year-old Philip must have become aware that all was not well with his mother. At Christmas, Alice, feeling depressed and exhausted, booked herself and her maid into a hotel in Grasse on the Côte d’Azur. Andrew, Philip and his sisters spent Christmas together in St. Cloud. Early in the new year, Alice was admitted as a voluntary patient to a sanatorium at Lake Tegel near Berlin. While she was there, her daughter Cecile announced her engagement to her cousin Prince George Donatus of Hesse. Alice discharged herself from Tegel in April and returned to the family in St. Cloud. Andrew persuaded his mother-in-law, Princess Victoria, to come to St. Cloud as Alice’s behaviour was becoming more and more strange. Victoria took control of the situation, and on 2 May 1930 she had Alice admitted to the Bellevue clinic in Kreutzlingen in Switzerland. This marked the end of family life at St. Cloud and the start of a new chapter in Philip’s life. In June, Philip spent his ninth birthday at Schloss Wolfsgarten, the country retreat of ‘Uncle Ernie’, the Grand Duke of Hesse, where the family gathered to celebrate both Cecile’s engagement and sixteen-year-old Sophie’s engagement to Prince Christophe of Hesse. Cecile wrote to Alice: ‘Philip is quite blissful. Uncle Ernie gave him a new bicycle for his birthday. He rushes around on it all day. In the evening from the moment he has finished his bath till he goes to bed he plays his beloved gramophone which you gave him. He got really lovely presents this year. He is very good and does just what he is told.’


Not long after afterwards, Andrew closed down the house in St. Cloud. All four daughters were by now living in Germany, Alice was in the sanatorium in Switzerland and Philip was sent away to school in England in September. Alice eventually made a full recovery and spent the rest of her life dressed as a nun while she tended to the poor and sick in Athens.





From the age of eight onwards, it was Alice’s family in England who became the main influences in Philip’s life, initially Uncle George Milford Haven, who acted in loco parentis until his premature death in 1938, when Uncle Dickie Mountbatten took over. Philip’s maternal grandmother Princess Victoria, the 1st Marquess of Milford Haven’s widow, was a constant presence – albeit it a somewhat strict one – in Philip’s life. She lived in an apartment at Kensington Place, where Philip kept his school trunk and often stayed during the half term holidays. Philip described her apartment as ‘a sort of base where I kept things.’ He became very attached to his grandmother, who often travelled with him to Germany in the holidays to stay with one of her granddaughters. Philip said later, ‘I suppose that my grandmother had a greater influence on my character than either of her sons [George and Dickie].’ In a letter to his headmaster at Cheam, written from HMS Magpie in Malta on 2 November 1950, he wrote: ‘She was much more to me than Grandmother as I lived for many years in her house and she was for a long time responsible for my schooling. She had an iron will and she never weakened in any way.’


Andrew had decided that he wanted Philip to continue his education in England and on the advice of Alice’s brother, George Milford Haven, he settled on Cheam School. Not only had George been at Cheam himself, but he also had a son David at Cheam two years older than Philip, who was to become Philip’s great friend and best man at his wedding. In the short school holidays, Philip lived with George at Lynden Manor, a country house near Maidenhead. George had seen naval action in the First World War at Jutland and Heligoland. Philip never tired of hearing George’s stories of the battle of Jutland, when his ship’s guns glowed red hot from continual firing as three sister ships blew up from direct hits. George had a brilliant mathematical and inventive mind. He designed and built working steam engines and devised a number of labour-saving devices. It was here that the seeds of Philip’s interest in science and engineering were sown. He too in later life often looked for improvements at Buckingham Palace and on the royal estates. George was married to Nada, the fun-loving bohemian former Russian countess whose extravagance caused George to leave the navy in 1930 to pursue a career in business. It was George and Philip’s maternal grandmother, Princess Victoria, who took care of the school fees at Cheam and George who put in appearances on sports days and at prize-giving ceremonies.


George was a director of a number of companies including Marks & Spencer and Electrolux, of which Sir Harold Wernher was chairman. His wife was Lady Zia Wernher, the sister of Nada Milford Haven. When questioned on the subject of influence, Philip said, ‘I have been thinking about this influence business and you can certainly add Harold Wernher to the list.’ Philip often stayed with the Wernher’s during the 1930s at Thorpe Lubenham Hall, their farmhouse in Leicestershire. The Wernhers were extremely rich and maintained a full retinue of servants, including a butler and footmen. Philip became close friends with the Wernhers’ three children. Their daughter Gina, who later was a trustee of the Duke of Edinburgh’s award scheme, said that Philip often had good discussions with her father. Many years later the Wernhers’ granddaughter Sacha Duchess of Abercorn became a close confidante of Prince Philip.


Over the next few years Philip occasionally saw his father in the summer holidays and sometimes at Christmas, when they stayed with one or other of Philip’s married sisters in Germany. Alice was unable to come to any of the weddings, but Andrew was ever present to give his daughters away and Philip was allowed out of school to go to all four of the weddings, acting as train bearer for Cecile, the first to be married. He travelled over for the weddings from London with his grandmother Victoria.





To be sent away to boarding school at the age of nine like Philip was commonplace among the monied classes in England; in fact eight was the more usual entry age. In the era before long-distance air travel became the norm, many boys did not see their parents from year to year because their fathers were ruling the far-flung corners of the British Empire that reached around the globe. Philip’s case was different in that he did not see his mother for five years from 1932 until 1937, and he saw less and less of his father. Later in life he played down the effect that this had on him, saying: ‘The family broke up. My mother was ill, my sisters were married and my father was in the south of France. I just had to get on with it. You do. One does.’


It did have the effect of making him emotionally stronger, self-sufficient and able to deal with whatever life had in store for him without showing his heart on his sleeve. A few years later he dealt with two family tragedies within a few months with little outward display of emotion, namely the deaths of George Milford Haven from cancer in April 1938 and the air crash that killed his sister Cecile, her husband Don and their children in 1937.


If the loss of one sister was to have a tragic impact on Philip, another of his sisters, Theodora, had a positive one. She had married her second cousin, Berthold Margrave of Baden in 1931, and although there was a great age difference Berthold became close to Philip. ‘He taught me to drive and fish for trout with a dry fly and must have had a major influence on my character’, said Philip. Philip’s sister Sophie said, Philip ‘liked all of his brothers-in-law and got on very well with them… he would have lengthy and serious talks with them. He was so interested in everything and was always very keen to learn and understand things.’


However, this family link was to have an even greater significance for Philip. Berthold was the son of Max von Baden, the last chancellor of Germany before the end of the First World War. Max’s secretary was a German Jew Kurt Hahn, who also wrote his speeches. Hahn was not initially an educator, but under the auspices of Max von Baden in 1920 he became the first headmaster of the Schule Schloss boarding school in Salem, which was intended to help educate a new German intellectual elite. Hahn would become one of the major influences in Philip’s life.


Philip had met Hahn a year earlier when staying with Theodora during the school holidays. He said there was an air about Hahn that commanded instant wariness and respect. Hahn, who was later made CBE, was instrumental in the setting up of the Duke of Edinburgh Awards scheme and the Outward Bound organisation, both of which encouraged young people to help themselves get on in life. Of the Awards scheme Philip said: ‘I would never have started it but for Hahn, certainly not. He suggested I ought to do it, and I fought against it for quite a long time. Because you know what the British are like about that sort of thing.’


Hitler took power in January 1933, and within months Hahn had been arrested for speaking out against the Nazis and had to leave the country. He fled Germany and opened a new school in Scotland called Gordonstoun in 1934, at which Philip became one of the very first pupils that year. Hahn was held in such respect that he was able to recruit an eminent first board of governors at Gordonstoun that included the Headmaster of Eton and the Archbishop of York. By then Andrew was based in Monaco and only came to London occasionally. He told Victoria that he wanted Philip to finish his education at Gordonstoun and then sit the entrance examination for the Royal Navy.





After the death of George Milford Haven his brother, Dickie Mountbatten, took over the role of Philip’s surrogate father. Andrew wrote to Dickie, ‘Do I beg you take charge of Philip’s upbringing.’ It was rather late in the day as Philip was already almost seventeen years old when George died. As a child, Philip occasionally saw Dickie at family gatherings and they got along well. In 1938, Dickie wrote to his wife Edwina: ‘Philip was here all last week doing his entrance exams for the navy. He has his meals with us and he really is killingly funny. I like him very much.’ This is a clear indication that Dickie was only then getting to know Philip.


Dickie, who had no son of his own, was extremely ambitious and keen to expunge what he considered a slur on his family name when his father was forced to resign as First Sea Lord in 1914 and to anglicise the family name from Battenberg to Mountbatten three years later as it was considered too German. He was determined to get to the top in the navy, as his father had before him. Dickie was influential in encouraging Philip to join the Royal Navy and arranged for him to have extra coaching before sitting the entrance examination to the Royal Naval College, Dartmouth.


Although many have claimed that Mountbatten was the significant influence in Philip’s life and development, this is an overstatement. While there is no doubt that Dickie was able to use his influence in getting Philip various postings in the navy and in progressing Philip’s romance with Princess Elizabeth, the degree of influence he had on moulding Philip the man is questionable. Philip himself said: ‘Mountbatten certainly had an influence on the course of my life, but not so much on my ideas and attitudes. I suspect he tried too hard to make himself a son out of me.’ And on another occasion he remarked: ‘One impression I think needs to be corrected is that the whole of my life has been spent here [in the UK] and that I was brought up by Lord Mountbatten, neither of which is true.’ As Dickie was away much of the time on active duty in the navy, the amount of time they could spend together was limited. What did rub off on Philip was Dickie’s drive to succeed and will to win. Years later, after Philip had married Princess Elizabeth and been posted to Malta, the two men became close friends. It was in Malta that Dickie introduced Philip to polo, which became his main sporting interest.





The principles of hard work, self-discipline and helping others to which Philip stayed true throughout his life were instilled initially by his mother Alice, who was described by her daughter Sophie as having an iron will, and then by his years at Gordonstoun under the auspices of Kurt Hahn. From his father Philip acquired his sense of fun and humour. His sister Sophie said: ‘My father died in 1944. He was so like him. Philip had the same mannerisms, movements, way of standing, walking and laughing – the colossal sense of humour, really seeing the funny side of things always, and making everybody else laugh.’


That was Philip. His sensitivity came from his mother and nanny, his sense of the ridiculous from his father. His dogged determination, his resilience, his courage and his sense of duty were character traits he developed during his wide-ranging education. In later life it enabled him to become committed to the concept of the monarchy. He saw duty as at the centre of everything in his life as it was his framework from which all other things followed. Of course, he rebelled against it as that too was part of his character, and when there was room for negotiation there was always room for conflict, but he always returned to the framework set down by his rigid personal rules decided upon early in his life. Be the best. Don’t give in. Accept challenges and meet them; succeed by your own ability, not by good fortune. Others might attribute Philip’s achievements to preferment, which impelled him to be incontrovertibly the best so he was succeeding not by his marital good fortune but by his own strength of character.










Chapter 3 EDUCATION



‘I would like as many boys as possible to enjoy their schooldays as much as I did’, Prince Philip told his 1970s biographer, Basil Boothroyd. Mr Boothroyd, who has been described as ‘a Punch contributor and a stylish sycophant’, published his amusing portrait of Prince Philip in 1971 and through a series of interviews, letters and wry observations pinpointed Philip’s feelings on his early life.


Although Philip’s education was not notable for its classroom success, each of the four schools he attended between the age of six in Paris until he entered the Royal Naval College, Dartmouth at eighteen had one thing in common: they were all fee-paying private schools. Philip was one of the privileged elite that comprise roughly 5 per cent of the population educated by the independent sector rather than the large majority educated in state schools. Both Cheam School, which Philip entered at nine, and later Gordonstoun were boys-only boarding schools where uniforms, rules, strict discipline and stiff punishment were all part of a life, which suited Philip as it gave him the structure he had lacked in his somewhat nomadic childhood. Living away from home was the norm and holidays were short. Life was competitive both in getting into the school sports teams and in getting to the top of the class in lessons. In all these respects school life had much in common with the Royal Navy. With this grounding Philip was well prepared for his later time with the Queen and her court. He found comfort and security in the structure of its royal protocol and conventions, its formality and the wearing of uniform required by the consort on state and military occasions.


When he was six years old, Philip was enrolled at the MacJannet American School in St. Cloud, which was known as The Elms on account of the huge trees that shaded the school. Donald MacJannet, an American First World War pilot who had studied at the Sorbonne, founded the school in 1924 principally for young Americans living in Paris. His views on education had much in common with those of Kurt Hahn, who was later to become such an influence on Philip. MacJannet believed in teaching the values of tolerance, enlightenment and cultural understanding. He promoted the ideals of hard work and discipline paired with exposure to foreign cultures and mutual respect. As well as many Americans, there were boys of several other nationalities in the school during Philip’s three years there, and two of Philip’s best friends were the sons of the Chinese ambassador in Paris. Philip’s other friends during his three years at The Elms included his cousins Prince Jacques and Princess Anne of Bourbon-Parma, who went on to marry King Michael of Romania. MacJannet described Philip as, ‘rugged, boisterous but always remarkably polite. Full of energy and got along well with other children.’


Initially Philip was teased for insisting that he had no surname and was ‘just Philip’, which later became Philip of Greece, a name he used for many years even though his Danish passport was inscribed with his full triple-barrelled surname. A photograph that has appeared in a number of biographies shows Philip with a few of his contemporaries at The Elms practising archery. One of the pupils in the photograph shown standing next to Philip is Alan Reeves, who went on to become an American consular official. In his old age Alan Reeves gave a detailed account of life at The Elms for the benefit of the MacJannet Foundation. In this Alan described Philip as: ‘a half-Greek classmate of noble birth who lacked a surname: the future Prince Philip, whose impoverished mother was sometimes seen darning her son’s socks, notwithstanding her status as the sister of Britain’s Lord Mountbatten.’
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